ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 THE CIRCllT COURT CONDUCTED PROCEEDINGS AT CRITICAL 
STAGES OF PETITIONER'S CASE WITHOUT HER IN VIOLATION OF 
PETITIONER'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT. 

THE CIRCUIT COURT ADMITTED PETITIONER'S ALLEGED OTHER BAD 
ACTS AS WELL AS HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF A CODEFENDANT 
AGAINST THE PETITIONER RESULTING IN UNFAIR PREJUDICIAL 
ERROR. 

3. 	 THE PETITIONER SUFFERED DOUBLE JEOPARDY WHEN SHE WAS 
ERRONEOUSLY INDICTED AND CONVICTED ON THREE COUNTS OF 
ROBBERY FOR THE SAME OFFENSE - THE ROBBERY OF ROBERT 
BASORE'S PROPERTY. 

4. 	 THE SUGHT CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL 
AGAINST PETmONER REIGH COULD REASONABLY SHOW HER 
INNOCENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF HER MOTIONS FOR 
AQUIITAL SHOULD BE REVERSED. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On May 7,2015, at aproximately 5:30 PM, two masked men entered the home of 

Robert Basore. CA.R. V.6, 173-74) 1. Once inside, one assailant immediately subdued 

Robert in the kitchen with a metal bar and demanded to know where his safe was. CA.R. 

V.4, 152; V·5, 93). The assailant dragged Robert to his bedroom for his safe, but unable 

to get it, he took Robert's wallet containing approximately $250 and his tooldbox of 

antique coins. CA.R. V-4, 152). The other masked man beat Robert's sons, Michael 

Basore and William Basore who were living in their father's house, with a metal bar and 

ordered them to stay down. CA.R. V.5, 58-62, 93). The male intruders left the house but 

took nothing that personally belonged to William or Michael Basore. CA.R. V.5, 65, 97). 

1 References to the Appendix Record-the contents of which were agreed to by the parnes-are set forth as 
liAR. 	 " 
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The state subsequently indicted the Petitioner, her boyfriend Jonathan Physioc, 

Robert's granddaughter Sherry Basore,2 and Ryan Henson on February 16, 2016 with 

one count of burglary, three counts of robbery in the first degree for the theft of Robert 

Basore's property, three counts of assault during the commission of a felony, and one 

count of conspiracy to commit robbery. (AR. V.1, 6-9). The case proceeded to a jury 

trial with the Petitioner, Physioc, and Henson joined as codefendants. 

At the trial, codefendant Henson's then-girlfriend Tatianna Etheridge testified 

that the plan according to Sherry Basore was to specifically rob Robert Basore for his 

safe while William Basore was drunk in his room and Michael Basore was not home. 

(AR. V.6, 24, 30-34, 99). Etheridge explained on the witness stand that on May 8, 

2016, shortly after 3 AM (AR. V.6, P.87), Henson came to her work at the strip club and 

confessed that "he needed some money to get out of town because they just hit a lick." 

(AR. V.6, 12-13). Etheridge revealed that "[Henson] came and picked up money from 

me every night." (A.R. V.6, 101). Approximately 10 hours had transpired since the home 

invasion and Henson's visit at the strip club. Etheridge saw the Petitioner and her 

boyfriend, Physioc, in the car with Henson when he came to her work. (A.R. V.6, 12-13). 

Etheridge testfied further that Henson blamed Physioc, stating "they didn't get anything 

because Johnny fucked it up" (AR. V.6, 13, 19) and that"Johnny had grabbed the wrong 

safe" (A.R. V.6, 19). She never testified that the Petitioner was part of the robbery. 

Etheridge told the jury that Henson was back at their residence at Motel 6 in the 

morning where they had been living together. (AR. V.6, 21). That morning, 

codefendant Henson fully explained to Etheridge what had transpired at the robbery the 

2 Sheny Basore had struck a plea deal with the state in exchange for testifying in the trial of the remaining 
three codefendants. She would later withdraw the plea on the witness stand before the jury. CA.R. V.S, 
23). 
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night before. CAR. V.6, 21-25). Henson confessed to her "[t]hat he tried everything he 

could to get the safe from the guy, but they had to beat him to be able to get anything" 

and that Henson did have assistance with the robbery. (A.R. V.6, 22-25). Etheridge 

never saw the stolen safe. (AR. V.6, 157). 

The state then asked, "Well, do you have any firsthand knowledge, anything 

you've heard specifically from the mouths of one of the Defendant's or anything you've 

seen about the actual robbery itself other than what you've already said?" (A.R. V.6, 34). 

Ms. Etheridge replied: 

I seen the coins that was taken. Johnny [Physioc] actually asked me where 
- if I knew anywhere that he could sell the coins to. And a couple of days 
later me and Kerri [Reigh] was together. Johnny and Ryan [Henson] had 
went out somewhere, me and her was actually going to shoplift and she was 
emptying her purse and a couple of the coins fell out of her purse. 

CAR. V.6, 34). Robert Basore never testified that the old coins Etheridge saw with 

Physioc or with the Petitioner actually belonged to him. The police detective testified he 

could not track the actual stolen coins. CAR. V.6, 214). He also explained that there was 

no forensic evidence at the crime scene (AR. V.6, 180) and even if there was a 

possibility of an additional get-away driver, he believed it could have been Totianna 

Etheridge based on what she divulged to him in police interviews (A.R. V.6, 265-66). 

The state conceded to the circuit court that "the evidence before the court against 

Ms. Reigh is slight." (AR. V.5, 299). Based on this slight evidence, the state argued to 

the jury that Reigh was the driver during the robbery. CAR. V.7, T. Tr. (May 2,2016) 

113-117). The jury convicted codefendants Henson, Physioc, and the Petitioner on all 

counts. CAR. V.1, 19-21). The trial court sentenced the Petitioner to 20 years for each of 

the 3 robberies (concurrent), 1-15 years for the burglary, 2-10 years for each of the 3 
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assaults, and 1-15 years for the conspiracy consecutively to each other and to the 

sentences for the robberies. (A.R. V.1, 79-81). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The jury's verdict is about guilty by association. The state conceded that there 

was scant evidence from which to convict Ms. Kerri Reigh. Yet in its rush to judgment, 

the trial court allowed all three codefendants to be tried together such that the jury 

heard codefendant Henson's confessions about the robbery with codefenant Physioc 

(Ms. Reigh's boyfriend) without Henson or Physioc ever taking the stand. Even 

Tatianna Etheridge was allowed to tell the jury that she goes shoplifting with Ms. Reigh. 

Given the nature of the crime, the injuries of the victims, and type of people involved, 

the jury was willing to believe Ms. Reigh participated in the robberies of the Basores. 

But the law is designed to protect Ms. Reigh's constitutional rights and provide her with 

a fair trial based only on proper evidence. That was not done here. Reversal is just and 

proper. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Because the principle issues in this case have been authoritatively decided 

already, oral argument under Rev. R.A.P.18(a) is not necessary unless the Court 

determines that other issues arising upon the reco~d should be addressed. If the Court 

determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 

argument and disposition by memorandum decision. 
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ARGUMENT 


I. 	 THE CIRCIDT COURT CONDUCrEn PROCEEDINGS AT CRITICAL 
STAGES OF PETITIONER'S CASE WITHOUT HER IN VIOLATION OF 
PETITIONER'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT. 

The circuit court notified all parties at 11 AM on April 25, 2016 that a hearing 

would be held later that afternoon at 4 PM, based on codefendant Henson's motion to 

sever. 	CA.R. V. 2, Hr'g 'fr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 7). On the same day, the Petitioner's trial 

counsel had also filed a Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Sever CA.R. 

V.1, 70) that the trial court considered at this hearing. (A.R. V.2, Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 

2016) 14). However, the Petition~r herself did not receive adequate notice and was not 

present at this critical stage of the proceeding.3 CA.R. V.1, 46). The circuit court refused 

to continue the matter.4 (A.R. V.2, Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 7). "[T]he defendant has a 

right under Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution to be present at all 

critical stages in the criminal proceeding; and when he is not, the State is required to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that what transpired in his absence was harmless." 

SyI. Pt. 6, State v. Boyd, 160 W. Va. 234, 235, 233 S.E.2d 710,713 (1977). "[AJ critical 

3 Although Petitioner Reigh's trial counsel sought to proceed with the hearing without his client present 
(AR. V.2, Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 5), the constitutional right to be present is a right which belongs 
exclusively to a defendant - "It does not belong to counsel for a defendant and cannot be waived by 
counsel." See State v. Hamilton, 184 W. Va. 722, 726, 403 S.E.2d 739, 743 (1991) (holding reversible error 
because impossible to speculate what appellant's contribution to that proceeding could have been or what 
additional inquiries would have been made at his behest). Indeed, trial counsel proffered to the court only 
that he had "left a message" with the Petitioner about the hearing but did not provide any "testimony that 
a defendant has authorized counsel to continue in [her] absence." State v. D.M.M .. 169 W. Va. 276, 280, 
286 S.E.2d 909, 911 (1981) (holding reversible error). 

4 Again, on day 6 of the trial after the jury began deliberations, the defendant was not present when the 
foreperson submitted a written question to the judge but the trial court proceeded to address the question 
without her. (AR. V.7, T. Tr (May 3,2016) 4-10). In cases involving communications between the court 
and the jury, this Court stated in State v. Hicks that "the absence of the defendant is deemed to be 
prejudicial error unless the State can prove rather conclusively that the absence was harmless." 198 W. 
Va. 656, 662,482 S.E.2d 641, 647 (1996). 
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stage in the criminal proceeding is one where the defendant's right to a fair trial will be 

affected." rd. at 246, 233 S.E.2d at 719. 

The results of a pre-trial hearing to determine whether the three codefendants 

should be severed and have separate, independent trials was vital to Petitioner Reigh's 

fair trial rights. See. e.g., State v. Jackson, 171 W. Va. 329, 335, 298 S.E.2d 866, 872 

(1982) (holding results of a psychiatric examination hearing bear greatly on defendant's 

right to a fair trial); cf. State v. Boyd, 160 W. Va. 234, 246, 233 S.E.2d 710, 719 (1977) 

(holding the entry of routine orders, filing motions, or involving clerical or 

administrative matters is not a cricital stage of the proceeding). Considering the scant 
I 

evidence in this case against the Petitioner, a separate trial would have been in her best 

interest. Codefendant Henson's counsel filed the initial motion in response to the state's 

discovery - that it had produced only three days prior - of recorded telephone 

conversations between codefendant Physioc and the Petitioner herself. (A.R. V.2, Hr'g 

Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 8). Petitioner's trial counsel and codefendant Physioc also sought 

severance because of potential hearsay statements by witness Tatianna Etheridge from 

codefendant Henson, made in the presence of Physioc and the Petitioner, that 

potentially implicated these codefendants. (A.R. V.2; Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 12-31). 

Petitioner's personal knowledge of these facts to support her substantive motion for 

severance makes her presence required at this pre-trial hearing and Rule 43 of the West 

Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure is inapplicable. See W. Va. R. Crim. P. 43(b), 43(c) 

("Presence Not Required"); cf. State v. Tiller, 168 W. Va. 522, 530, 285 S.E.2d 371,375 

(1981) (harmless error where defendant's absences at hearings were procedural in 

nature). 
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The circuit court, in considering whether to delay the trial, refused to continue 

the pre-trial hearing so the Petitioner could participate. Had Petitioner been afforded 

the opportunity to be present at this hearing, she could have assisted her counsel with 

the issues and provided meaningful input, gone over what scenarios might be divulged 

during trial, and otherwise pushed for complete severance. See generally State v. 

Hamilton. 184 W. Va. 722, 726, 403 S.E.2d 739,743 (1991) (holding reversible error 

because impossible to speculate what appellant's contribution to that proceeding could 

have been or what additional inquiries would have been made at his behest). 

Petitioner's motion for severance was not granted. (A.R. V.2, Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 

29-31). Cf. State ex reI. Redman v. Hedrick. 185 W. Va. 709, 714, 408 S.E.2d 659, 664 

(1991) (no error where petitioner's motion granted). Accordingly, the Petitioner's 

involuntary absence, due to insufficient notice by the court, at her Motion to Sever 

hearing is not harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Reversal is warranted to 

correct the violation of Petitioner's constitutional rights to be present. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ADMITTED PETITIONER'S ALLEGED OTHER 
BAD ACTS AS WELL AS HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF A 
CODEFENDANT AGAINST THE PETITIONER RESULTING IN 
UNFAIR PREJUDICIAL ERROR. 

In not severing the co-defendants, the circuit court improperly admitted 

testimony to the jury by Tatianna Etheridge that implicated the Petitioner's guilt. This 

resulted in unfair prejudicial error. Over the defendants' objections (A.R. V.6, 14-18), 

the jury heard codefendant Henson's admission to his then-girlfriend Tatianna 

Etheridge on May 8,2016, shortly after 3 AM (A.R. V.6, P.87) - some ten hours after the 

robbery - that, among other things, "he needed some money to get out of town because 

they just hit a lick" (A.R. V.6, 12-13). Although Etheridge did not testify that 
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codefendant Henson disclosed to her that the Petitioner was involved in the robbery, 

Etheridge did testify that the Petitioner and her boyfriend, Physioc, were with Henson 

when he spoke to her at the strip club. (A.R. V.6, 12-13). Etheridge testfied further that 

Henson blamed Physioc, stating "they didn't get anything because Johnny fucked it up" 

CA.R. V.6, 13,19), and that "Johnny had grabbed the wrong safe" (A.R. V.6, 19). 

The only other evidence by the state to prove the Petitioner's guilt again involved 

Etheridge. The state asked, "Well, do you have any firsthand knowledge, anything 

you've heard specifically from the mouths of one of the Defendant's or anything you've 

seen about the actual robbery itself other than what you've already said?" (A.R. V.6, 34). 

Ms. Etheridge replied: 

I seen the coins that was taken. Johnny [Physioc] actually asked me where 
- if I knew anywhere that he could sell the coins to. And a couple of days 
later me and Kerri [Reigh] was together. Johnny and Ryan [Henson] had 
went out somewhere, me and her was actually going to shoplift and she was 
emptying her purse and a couple of the coins fell out of her purse. 

CA.R. V.6, 34). The court admitted this testimony about shoplifting over the Defendants' 

objections (A.R. V.6, 14-18). Petitioner addresses this prejudicial error first. 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Admitted Evidence of the Unrelated Crime of 
Shoplifting Against the Petitioner That Impermissably Showed 
Propensity and Therefore Contributed to Her Conviction. 

1. 	 The trial court neither made any determination of its 
intrinsic value nor conducted an in camera McGinnis 
hearing before admitting the Petitioner's alleged and 
unrelated bad act of shoplifting to the jury. 

In the state's case-in-chief, Etheridge testified about a conspiracy between her 

and the Petitioner to shoplift. Petitioner's collateral crime was therefore introduced 

before the defendant presented any evidence, much less evidence relating to her 

character. In State v. Richards, 190 W. Va. 299,438 S.E.2d 331 (1993), the State 
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similarly introduced evidence of the collateral crimes committed by the -defendant in its 

case-in-chief and as such, this Court stated it "cannot conclude that [the state] laid the 

foundation for the introduction of collateral-crimes evidence." rd. at 304, 438 S.E.2d at 

336. This Court held the trial court committed reversible error. rd. at 306, 438 S.E.2d 

at 338. 

Here, the trial court held pre-trial W.V.R.E. 404(b) hearings on April 22, 2015, 

and again on April 25, 2016 (the same day it heard the Petitioner's Motion to Sever, 

again without the Petitioner present), but the state never noticed or raised the 

shoplifting issue at either hearing. (A.R. V.2, Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 22, 2016) 19-31; A.R. V.2, 

Hr'g Tr. (Apr. 25, 2016) 29-33). Particularly, in the April 22, 2016 Order, the trial court 

noted that "[t]he State was further requested by the Defendant not to elicit any 

testimony that would be considered 404(b) evidence, to which the State agreed, 

conditioned upon the same precedent grounds that may allow their admissibility, as 

previously listed items" - namely a defendant opens the door or puts character at issue. 

(A.R. V.1, 61-62). Despite this agreement, the state elicited from Etheridge in its case

in-chief that Petitioner planned to shoplift with her prior to any defendant putting on 

evidence. 

The state did not argue and the trial court did not find tliat the Petitioner's 

alleged shoplifting conspiracy - which occurred several days after the robbery, and 

beared no resemblence in scheme to or completed the story of the robbery - was 

intrinsic to the crimes charged. See generally State v. LaRock 196 W. Va. 294, 313 n.29, 

470 S.E.2d 613, 632 n.29 (1996) ("'Other act' evidence is 'intrinsic' when the evidence of 

the other act and the evidence of the crime charged are 'inextricably intertwined' or both 

acts are part of a 'single criminal episode' or the other acts were 'necessary 
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preliminaries'to the crime charged.") (citations omitted). Indeed, the state could have 

elicited from Ms. Etheridge that she saw the alleged coins fall out of Petitioner's purse 

without divulging that the Petitioner shoplifted. Also, the court could have sustained 

the defendants' motion to strike and instructed the jury to disregard the shoplifting 

statement. See. e.g., SyI. pt. 18, State v. Hamric, 151 W.Va. 1, 151 S.E.2d 252 (1966) 

("Ordinarily where objections to questions or evidence by a party are sustained by the 

trial court during the trial and the jury instructed not to consider such matter, it will not 

constitute reversible error."). According to Etheridge, the prosecutor knew two weeks 

before trial about the Petitioner's alleged shoplifting conspiracy. (A.R. V.6, 73-74). Yet 

the prosecutor claimed at trial that he had turned over all written and recorded 

discovery (A.R. V.6, 37). The trial court adopted the state's argument, overruled the 

defendants' motion, and suggested the defendants could cross examine the witness for 

impeachment. (A.R. V.6, 39, 41). 

However, the procedures set forth in State v. McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 147, 455 

S.E.2d 516 (1994), dictate the Petitioner's collateral crime admissibility. The court failed 

to conduct an in camera hearing as stated in State v. Dolin, 176 W. Va. 688, 347 S.E.2d 

208 (1986), to determine by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) this shoplifting 

conspiracy occurred, and that (2) the Petitioner committed it. See McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 

at 527-28; 455 S.E.2d at 158-59. Having no finding of a "sufficient showing," the court 

never made any subsequent determination to the relevancy of the evidence under Rules 

401 and 402 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, or conduct the balancing required 

under Rule 403. See id. at 528,455 S.E.2d at 159. Even if it found the Rule 404(b) 

evidence admissible, the court failed to instruct the jury on the limited purpose for 

which the ~vidence would be admitted. See id. 
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This Court in McGinnis instructed that "when admitting evidence under Rule 

404(b), the record must clearly reveal the analysis the trial court used to comply with 

the mandates of Rule 403." Id. at 532, 455 S.E.2d at 163 (citing Arnoldt v. Ashland Oil, 

Inc., 186 W. Va. 394, 408, 412 S.E.2d 795, 809 (1991) ("the record ofthis case indicates 

that the trial judge failed to conduct the balancing inquiry required by West Virginia

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