I. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 Petitioner's right to be present was not violated because (a) a pre-trial hearing on the eve 
of trial, April 25, 2016, originally convened to address a co-defendant's motion and at 
which no adverse determination concerning Petitioner was requested or rendered, was not 
a critical stage of Petitioner's own proceedings, and even if it was; no harm or prejudice 
resulted from Petitioner's absence; and (b) to the extent Petitioner was absent when the 
Circuit Court and counsel responded to a simple jury question at trial, she had absented 
herselfas contemplated by W.Va. R. Crim. P. Rule 43(b)(1).

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

The facts and legal arguments pertinent to this appeal are adequately presented in the 

briefs and appellate record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral 

argument. To the extent the Court may conclude that the resolution of this matter would be aided 

by oral argument, a Rule 20 argument is potentially appropriate in light of Petitioner's double 

jeopardy claim, the State's response and the fact that companion appeals filed by Petitioner's co

defendants will likely follow. 
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V. ARGUMENT 


A. 	 Petitioner's Rights Were Not Violated By Virtue of Her Absence From a Non
Critical Hearing Hastily Scheduled on the Eve of Trial And There Was No 
Possibility of Prejudice in Light of the Lack of Adverse Determinations 

Petitioner's absence during a pre-trial hearing on the evening before trial began. No 

decision was requested or rendered on April 25, 2016 that could have adversely affect the 

defendant's right to a fair trial. In fact, the only decision made that evening was to grant the 

State's motion to voluntarily dismiss an attempted murder charge pending against Petitioner and 

her co-defendants. Because counsel were prepared to commence trial the next morning, it is 

reasonable to believe Petitioner had no new factual information to contribute to any discussion. 

Any belated request to sever the trial of joined co-defendants, had a request been pursued, likely 

would have been denied. Thus, there was no possibility of prejudice and Petitioner's absence was 

harmless. 

Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution affords a criminal defendant the 

right to be present at any "critical stage" of the proceedings. Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Jim Boyd, 160 

W.Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710 (1977).1 But the right to be present is not a right to be present at 

every moment of the proceedings. State v. Shabazz, 206 W.Va. 555, 557, 526 S.E.2d 521, 523 

(1999). The right to be present attaches only to the "critical stages" of the proceedings; i.e., 

events that are such as will affect the defendant's right to a fair trial. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Tiller, 

168 W.Va. 522, 285 S.E.2d 371 (1981). A defendant need not be present at a conference or 

argument upon a technical question of law that is not dependent upon facts within her personal 

knowledge. W.Va. R. Crim. P. Rule 43(c)(3). 

If a defendant wishes, she may knowingly and intelligently waive the right to be present. 

A concurrent right arises under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United States 
Constitution. 
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Syi. Pt. 7, State ex reI. Grob v. Blair, 158 W.Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975). However, counsel 

may not waive his client's right to be present unless the waiver is accompanied by testimony 

authorizing counsel to continue in the defendant's absence. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. D.MM., 169 

W.Va. 276, 286 S.E.2d 909 (1982). Finally, once the actual trial begins in the defendant's 

presence, she is deemed to have waived her right to be present if, whether forewarned or not, she 

voluntarily absents herself. W.Va. R. Crim. P. Rule 43(b)(1).2 

Absent these or certain other circumstances not presented here, the State must 

demonstrate "beyond a reasonable doubt" that matters transpiring in a defendant's absence were 

harmless if a she is not present during a "critical stage" of the proceedings. Syi. Pt. 6, State v. Jim 

Boyd, supra. Where there is no possibility of prejudice to the defendant, her absence at a "critical 

stage" of the proceedings does not constitute reversible error. Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rei. Redman v. 

Hedrick, 185 W.Va. 709, 408 S.E.2d 659 (1991). The two sources of potential prejudice 

recognized in the Court's case law are that (a) a jury might draw an adverse inference from the 

defendant's absence, or (b) the defendant might have information necessary to the effective 

advocacy of her case. State v. Crabtree, 198 W.va. 620, 629,482 S.E.2d 605, 614 (1996). 

1. 	 The April 25, 2016 Hearing Did Not Represent a Critical Stage of Petitioner's 
Proceedings 

The April 25, 2016 hearing that Petitioner did not attend was held after 4:00 p.m. on the 

literal eve of trial, and was held to accommodate a motion to sever co-defendant Henson's trial 

2 In addition to complaining of her absence from the April 25, 2016 hearing that is the focus of 
her argument, Petitioner notes that the Circuit Court addressed a question from the jury in her 
absence. Petitioner's Brief at 5, n.4. The jury's question (see AR V.7, Tr. (05/03/3026) at 5-9, 
apparently related to the omission of Count VIn (an attempted murder charge voluntarily 
dismissed by the State) from the verdict form. See, e.g., AR V.6, Tr (04/29/2016) at 330-32. 
Having attended the trial proceedings up through the recess preceding the question, pursuant to 
W.Va. R. Crim. P. Rule 43(b)(1) Petitioner waived her right to be present when she absented 
herself from the courtroom area during the period in which the Circuit Court addressed the jury's 
inconsequential question. 
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served late on the night of April 24, 2016. AR V.2, Tr. (04/25/2016) at 4-9. Petitioner's counsel 

attempted to contact Petitioner concerning the hearing, without success. AR V.2, Tr. 

(04/25/2016) at 5, lines 9-10. Thus, the Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to 

Sever, AR V.1 at 70, was apparently filed by Petitioner's counsel without Petitioner's 

knowledge. Although the Memorandum in Support asserted that the "trial should be severed," 

the court and counsel agreed to address only co-defendant Henson's request for relief. AR V.2, 

Tr. (04/25/2016) at 5 (" ... what [Petitioner's counsel] would ask the Court to do is to just simply 

take up [co-defendant Henson's] motion, ....); Id. at 6 (" ... I agree with [Petitioner'S counsel] 

that it would be [co-defendant Henson's] interest and the State's interest dealing with the 

severance motion ...."); Id. at 7 ("I understand it's [co-defendant Henson's] motion .... I don't 

know that the Court is really in a position to take any action for or against [Petitioner] here 

today. "). The assertion that the Circuit Court "refused to continue the pre-trial hearing so the 

Petitioner could participate," Petitioner's Brief at 7, does not accurately characterize the record. 

Co-defendant Henson's motion to sever was prompted by the State's recent production of 

certain telephone call information. AR V.2, Tr. (04/25/2016) at 8. However, co-defendant 

Henson withdrew the motion after the State represented that it would not be offering this newly

produced evidence. AR V.2, Tr. (04/2512016) at 9-12. Petitioner's counsel perceived that 

evidentiary issues prompting the withdrawal of co-defendant Henson's motion effectively 

resolved the issues noted in Petitioner's Memorandum in Support. AR V.2, Tr. (04/25/2016) at 

29-30. The balance of the April 25, 2016 hearing focused on discussion of various evidentiary 

issues that would likely or potentially emerge during trial. AR V.2, Tr. (04/25/2016). As the 

Order (AR V.l at 46-48) memorializing the hearing reflects, the only decision made by the Court 

was to grant the State's motion to voluntarily dismiss an attempted murder charge alleged in 
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Count VIII of the indictment, a decision to which Petitioner surely would not have objected. 

Accordingly, because no decision was ultimately requested or rendered on April 25, 2016 

that might adversely affect the defendant's right to a fair trial, and because the only action taken 

that day - the voluntary dismissal of an attempted murder charge - was a technicality inuring to 

Petitioner's benefit, the Court should conclude that Petitioner's absence on that day did not occur 

at a critical stage of her criminal proceedings. 

2. 	 Petitioner Was Not Prejudiced by the Events of the April 25, 2016 Hearing and, 
Therefore, Her Absence Was Harmless 

Petitioner's absence at a pre-trial hearing obviously could not have prompted a jury to 

draw any related, adverse inference. So the analysis of harmless error and prejudice turns, in 

substantial part, upon whether she may have possessed relevant information necessary to the 

effective advocacy of her case. State v. Crabtree, 198 W.Va. at 629, 482 S.E.2d at 614. But 

because no decision was requested or rendered on April 25, 2016 (save for the voluntary 

dismissal that benefitted her), her knowledge or lack of knowledge of the facts discussed that day 

is immaterial. 

The April 25, 2016 hearing was held on the literal eve of trial. It is reasonable to believe 

that Petitioner's counsel was prepared for trial and had the benefit of all information Petitioner 

might expect to share with him. Had co-defendant Henson gone forward with his last-minute 

motion to sever or had Petitioner's counsel chosen to pursue similar relief, Petitioner's absence 

nevertheless would have been harmless. Counsel possessed all facts pertinent to those issues and 

any belated request for severance should have been denied. 

As this Court very recently made clear, trial courts have discretion to sever the trial of co

defendants (or grant other relief) pursuant to W.Va. R. Crim. P. Rule 14(b) if joinder appears to 

prejudice either a defendant or the State. Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Rashaun R. Boyd, _ W.Va. _, _ 
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S.E.2d _, 2017 WL 372177 (January 19, 2017). But the denial of a motion to sever is not 

reversible unless the appellant demonstrates an abuse of discretion resulting in clear prejudice. 

Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Rashaun R. Boyd, supra. Indeed, the Court's adoption ofRule 14(b) in 2006 in 

lieu of the prior rule mandating severance upon request implies a general approval of, if not an 

outright preference for, the joint trial of co-defendants. After analyzing Federal case law 

addressing the subject, the Court has held that severance under Rule 14(b) should be granted 

"only if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of 

the defendants or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence" 

Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Rashaun R. Boyd, supra. 

In this instance, no such "serious risk" existed. Certainly, no risk of any kind existed on 

April 25, 2016 that would not have been equally apparent a considerable time in advance of trial. 

Under the circumstances, it would have been well within the Circuit Court's discretion to deny 

any motion to sever. Consequently, Petitioner's absence from the April 25, 2016 pre-trial hearing 

was harmless. 

B. 	 The Alleged Evidentiary Errors Complained of By Petitioner Were Neither 
Preserved For Appeal Nor Meritorious 

Petitioner's contention that the admission of "bad acts" evidence and hearsay statements 

gave rise to error is misplaced. The alleged hearsay statements were clearly admissible under the 

Rules of Evidence and notwithstanding the Confrontation Clause. Moreover, that Petitioner's 

counsel chose not to object to the "bad acts" evidence under W.V.R.E. Rule 404(b) and elicited 

additional testimony regarding that evidence suggests that doing so may have been part of 

litigation strategy. 

14 




Before analyzing these issues, it bears noting that "[a] trial court's evidentiary rulings, as 

well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of 

discretion standard." Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Rodoussakis, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). 

1. 	 Petitioner Not Only Failed to Object to Evidence of Her Past, Alleged Shoplifting; 
Petitioner Elicited Testimony Regarding the Subject 

The admission of testimony regarding Petitioner's alleged intent to go shoplifting with 

Tatianna Etheridge does not constitute reversible error. Petitioner never raised an objection to 

this evidence at trial. Indeed, Petitioner's own counsel elicited testimony concerning this issue, 

suggesting that allowing its admission was a tactical or strategic decision. 

Admittedly, evidence of Petitioner's intent to engage in shoplifting or actual participation 

in shoplifting could fall within the scope of W.V.R.E. Rule 404(b). But the record reflects that 

Petitioner never sought to exclude this evidence. 

The Appendix Record contains no written motion by Petitioner seeking the identification 

or exclusion of Rule 404(b) evidence. The April 22, 2016 hearing addressed co-defendant 

Henson's motion to exclude evidence of co-defendant Henson's alleged bad acts. AR V.!, at 61

63; AR V.2, Tr. (04122/2016). Similarly, to the extent potential Rule 404(b) evidence was 

discussed during the April 25, 2016 hearing, again, only co-defendant Henson raised this issue. 

AR V.1, at 46-48; AR V.2, Tr. (04125/2016) at 25-26. 

During trial, when Ms. Etheridge first raised the issue of Petitioner's alleged plan to 

engage in shoplifting, AR V.6, at 34, Petitioner did not object. Co-defendant Henson did object, 

but only to complain that the State had allegedly failed to disclose this evidence. AR V.6, at 34

39. In doing so, co-defendant Henson moved for a mistrial. AR V.6, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 35. Co

defendant Physioc eventually joined in co-defendant Henson's objections. AR V.6, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 37. Petitioner's counsel, however, did not object or move for a mistrial. Instead, 
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Petitioner's counsel informed the Circuit Court that Petitioner would "stand silent" as to this 

evidence. AR V.6, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 39. When co-defendant Henson later brought up the 

allegation of shoplifting during cross-examination, Petitioner did not object. AR V.6, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 73. Indeed, Petitioner's counsel himself posed several direct questions to Ms. 

Etheridge regarding the alleged shoplifting incident. AR V.6, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 105. The State 

can only speculate regarding Petitioner's response to the shoplifting testimony, but that response 

was potentially strategic in nature, such as an attempt to further suggest Ms. Etheridge's bias and 

intent to shift blame from herself to others. 

Because neither Petitioner nor anyone else objected to the admission of the shoplifting 

testimony on Rule 404(b) grounds, the Circuit Court neither had an opportunity nor was required 

to engage in the analysis contemplated by State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147, 455 S.E.2d 516 

(1994). Because there was no objection on Rule 404(b) grounds, the State had no need or 

obligation to identify the permissible purpose (if any) for which the evidence was elicited. 

Because there was no objection on Rule 404(b) grounds, the Circuit Court was not called upon to 

consider whether a limiting instruction was needed. The obligation to object so as to preserve 

issues for appeal as noted in W.V.R.E. Rule 103(a) exists because it is better for a trial court to 

address such issues in the first instance than for an appellate court to evaluate them without the 

benefit of a complete record. 

The admission of the shoplifting testimony in the absence of any objection by Petitioner 

does not constitute plain error. Where a circuit court's error seriously affects the fairness, 

integrity, and public reputation of the judicial process, an appellate court has the discretion to 

correct plain error despite a defendant's failure to object. Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Marple, 197 W.Va. 

47,475 S.E.2d 47 (1996). For the purposes of West Virginia'S "plain error" rule, a "plain" error 
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is one that is clear and uncontroverted at the time of appeal. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Marple, supra. An 

unpreserved error may be deemed plain and to affect substantial rights only if this Court finds the 

lower court skewed the fundamental fairness or basic integrity of the proceedings in some major 

respect. In clear terms, the plain error rule should be exercised only to avoid a miscarriage of 

justice. The discretionary authority of this Court invoked by lesser errors should be exercised 

sparingly and should be reserved for the correction of those few errors that seriously affect the 

fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. Syl. Pt. 7, State v. LaRock, 

196 W.Va. 294,470 S.E.2d 613 (1996). In this instance, the decision of Petitioner's counsel to 

refrain from objecting to evidence that Petitioner and Ms. Etheridge planned to shoplift together 

does not constitute plain error consistent with the foregoing standards. 

For the foregoing reasons, the admission of evidence concerning an alleged plan for 

Petitioner and Ms. Etheridge to shoplift together does not constitute reversible error.

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